## DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



MARLON A. WILSON

٧.

**UNITED STATES** 

22-CO-43; 22-CO-843 2014-CF3-11881

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division

## **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Thomas T. Heslep Counsel for Wilson Appointed by the Court 419 7<sup>th</sup> Street, NW, #405 Washington, D.C. 20004 Tel. 703 801-1857 Bar no. 351726

#### **

#### ARGUMENT

THE ENHANCEMENT PAPERS SERVED UPON MR. WILSON FAILED TO EXPOSE HIM TO ENHANCED PENALTIES UNDER 22 D.C. CODE 18a(a)(2), THUS, HIS ATTORNEY'S FAILURE TO ARGUE THAT AT SENTENCING WAS INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE.

Mr. Wilson's lawyer for sentencing did not object to the judge's apparent conclusion that he was forced by the statute to pronounce a mandatory fifteen year sentence on the robbery charge. She failed to do that, even though the statute is not clear about whether two charges that derived from separate acts

but were sentenced on the same day count as two convictions for purposes of the life papers. This ambiguity is apparent from a simple reading of the statute.

Her failure to object allowed this Court to decide Mr. Wilson's appeal on that issue based upon the plain error doctrine. Since the issue was one that had not been decided by this Court, the division held that there could not be plain error. Wilson v. United States, 16-CF-750; 16-CO-616, Feb. 15, 2018, at 12-15.

Thereafter, based upon this aspect of the MOJ in the direct appeal, the trial judge was faced with the issue of whether the life papers filed in the case actually comported with the statute, because Mr. Wilson filed an ineffective assistance of counsel motion, citing sentencing counsel's failure to object to the life papers.

The argument was that failure to litigate the matter below subjected the issue to unfavorable plain error review at DCCA.

The trial judge denied relief. In so doing he concluded that Mr. Wilson's preferred interpretation of the enhancement statute would result in absurd consequences. That is, if he had pled at the same time to these charges, but had been sentenced on consecutive days, then that would qualify him for enhancement.

Unfortunately, the *reductio* technique can be applied equally to the judge's and the government's preferred interpretation. Suppose, for instance, that in this

case Mr. Wilson had been convicted of both robberies, occurring an hour apart in separate venues. If separate events, not separate convictions, is the standard, those two stealth robberies would subject Mr. Wilson to a possible life sentence under the enhancement provision at issue here.

The simple truth is that the statute in question is not well drafted because it is unclear. And, importantly, either strict interpretation of the language results in possible absurd results.

The most reasonable way to approach this problem is to think through the matter and give the law an interpretation that saves it from the absurdities set out above.

That interpretation is that for there to be drastic enhancement of statutory maximum sentences, the two convictions referenced must be separated by some period of punishment or a chance for rehabilitation of the offender – or both. In that way, we lose the absurd consequences set out above, which are caused by too literal a reading of the words of the law.

Interpreted in this way, the law makes some sense. Council wanted to add to the possible consequences of crimes done by repeat offenders. But the repeat offenders cannot be people who go on a short duration theft spree, picking several pockets on a single day. Rather, the offender who is the target subject of

the statute is one who had erred, been given a chance to reform, or at least been given punishment, and then reoffended.

It is the duty of an appellate court to interpret a statute in such a way as to avoid absurd results, even when the language used is clear. See: Cardozo v. United States, 255 A.3d 979, 991-993 (D.C. 2021)(dissent). When a possible interpretation of a statute would lead to absurd consequences which the legislature could not have intended it is to be rejected. James Parreco & Son v. D.C. Rental Housing Comm'n, 567 A.2d 43, 46 (D.C. 1989)(citing United States v. Brown, 333 U.S. 18, 27 (1948).

Where a literal interpretation of the statute would lead to an absurd result, the court will follow the legislative intent, despite the literal wording. *Moten v. United States*, 81 A.3d 1274, 1277 (D.C. 2013); *Haney v. United States*, 473 A.2d 393, 394 (D.C. 1984).

This statute yields absurd results unless it is interpreted in the way suggested above – calling for two convictions separated by some period of either punishment or a course of rehabilitation, or both.

That being so, Mr. Wilson has shown both prongs ineffective assistance set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Trial counsel should have contested the application of this ambiguous statute. Her failure to do so resulted

in clear prejudice to Mr. Wilson, as his sentence exceeds the statutory maximum for robbery, based upon a false interpretation of the enhancement statute.

THE RULE ON LENITY APPLIES TO MR. WILSON'S SENTENCE HERE, SINCE
THE ENHANCEMENT STATUTE IS AMBIGUOUS.

The language of the enhancement statute is (clearly) ambiguous, as demonstrated above and conceded in the MOJ opinion in this case. The trial judge did not apply the rule, because he held that the statute was not fatally ambiguous. See: Order at 9, n. 26.

That conclusion – that the statute did not suffer from a 'grievous ambiguity or uncertainty' is incorrect.

Thus, the rule of lenity should have been applied at the resentencing. See: In re Richardson, 273 A. 3d 342, 349 (D.C. 2022). Criminal statutes should be strictly construed and ambiguities should be resolved in favor of the defendant. Coleman v. United States, 202 A.3d 1127, 1141 (D.C. 2019). It is appropriate to apply where, as here, a penal statute's language, structure, purpose and legislative history leaves its meaning genuinely in doubt. Holloway v. United States, 951 A.2d 59, 65 (D.C. 2008).

IN HIS ORDER DENYING THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE MOTION THE

JUDGE MAKES IT VERY CLEAR THAT HE MISTAKENLY REGARDED THE FIFTEEN

# YEAR SENTENCE HE IMPOSED BASED UPON THE ENHANCEMENT STATUTE AS A MANDATORY MINIMUM, AND NOT A MINIMUM MAXIMUM.

One aspect of the entire process involved in Mr. Wilson's sentencing is the fact that the sentencing judge mistakenly regarded the fifteen-year sentence as a mandatory minimum. It is not. Rather, it is a minimum maximum. *Brocksmith v. United States*, 99 A.3d 690, 700-703, n. 13 (D.C. 2014).

The enhancement statute's language precisely tracks that of the robbery statute itself, which establishes a minimum maximum of two years. It does not establish a mandatory two-year sentence. Those defendants who have gotten probation for first offense robbery convictions would be surprised if it were otherwise.

Given the comments the judge made at sentencing, cited above, it is entirely possible that he would not have imposed the fifteen-year sentence had he realized this.

If this Court decides the issue of the applicability of the enhancement statute in Mr. Wilson's favor, the judge will have to reduce the sentence imposed at least to thirteen years, with two years of supervised release. See: 24 D.C. Code 403.01(b)(7)(c).

If it goes the other way, the judge would have had the authority to impose the sentence that he did. However, he will have imposed that sentence based upon a legal mistake, and the case would have to be remanded for him to sentence based upon an accurate understanding of the law. *Brocksmith* at 701, citing *Wallace v. United States*, 936 A.2d 757, 780 (D.C. 2007); *Sanders v. United States*, 975 A.2d 165, 167 (D.C. 2009).

#### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, Appellant Marlon Wilson prays for relief.