BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Nos. 22-CO-43 & 22-CO-843

Appellant,

v.

MARLON A. WILSON,

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEALS FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB

* SARA B. HANSON
MA Bar #676184
Assistant United States Attorneys

* Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Sara.Hanson2@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2014-CF3-11881

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Wilson has failed to establish that his attorney's failure to challenge his exposure to enhanced penalties pursuant to D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(2) constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. The enhancement provision was properly applied to Wilson, and any challenge to its applicability would have been meritless. Thus, Wilson's attorney's performance was not deficient and did not prejudice the defense. Further, D.C. Code § 22-1804a is not ambiguous and the rule of lenity does not apply.

Wilson failed to assert that the trial court erred by interpreting D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(2) to impose a mandatory minimum sentence at either the sentencing hearing or in his direct appeal. Thus, this Court may review this claim, if at all, for plain error. The trial court did not commit plain error in its application of the enhanced sentencing penalties under D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(2) by misinterpreting the enhancement as a mandatory minimum. The trial court properly understood the enhancement to impose a statutory minimum, and appropriately applied the provision when sentencing Wilson to 180 months' incarceration for robbery.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Properly Denied Appellant's D.C. Code § 23-110 Motions Alleging Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.

Wilson argues that his attorney's failure to challenge his exposure to enhanced penalties at sentencing pursuant to D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(2) subjected him to "unfavorable" plain-error review in his direct appeal and therefore constituted ineffective assistance of counsel (Brief at 4). This argument is without merit. Because D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(2) was properly applied to Wilson, Wilson's attorney's performance was not deficient and did not prejudice the defense.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles.

On appellate review of a trial court's ruling on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the Court defers to the trial court's findings of fact unless they lack evidentiary support and reviews the trial court's legal conclusions de novo. *Logan v. United States*, 147 A.3d 292, 300-301 (D.C. 2016); *Kuhn v. United States*, 900 A.2d 691, 698-699 (D.C. 2006).

The "right to counsel" embodied in the Sixth Amendment is the right to effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466

U.S. 668, 686 (1984) (quoting *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759, 771 n.14 (1970)). *Strickland* establishes a two-part test for evaluating claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Id.* at 687. A defendant must be able to establish that: (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) counsel's performance prejudiced the defense. *Id.* at 687; *see also Freeman v. United States*, 971 A.2d 188, 201 (D.C. 2009) ("An appellant alleging the constitutional ineffectiveness of his trial counsel must demonstrate both deficient performance and prejudice in order to merit relief under D.C. Code § 23–110.").

To establish deficient performance, a defendant must show that counsel made "errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. In other words, a counsel's performance may not fall below an objective standard of reasonableness as measured by prevailing professional norms. *Id.* at 688. Subsequent evaluation of an attorney's performance must be highly deferential and "every effort [must] be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." *Bell v. Cone*, 535 U.S.

685, 698 (2002) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689). Counsel should be "strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment[.]" *Burt v. Titlow*, 571 U.S. 12, 22 (2013) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690).

It is not deficient performance for counsel to fail to file a meritless motion or decline to make a meritless objection. Washington v. United States, 689 A.2d 568, 571-2 (D.C. 1997) (failure to file a meritless motion does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel); Zanders v. United States, 678 A.2d 556, 569 (D.C. 1996) ("[T]here is no professional obligation to file a motion that may have no merit.").

To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, a defendant must also establish that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defense. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693. "As a general matter, a defendant alleging a Sixth Amendment violation must demonstrate 'a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Mickens v. Taylor*, 535 U.S. 162, 166 (2002) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694). The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not merely conceivable. *Gardner v.*

United States, 140 A.3d 1172, 1196 (D.C. 2016) (quoting Harrington v.Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011) (internal citations omitted)).

"Failure to make the required showing of either deficient performance or sufficient prejudice defeats the ineffectiveness claim." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 700. A court reviewing such a claim may examine the two prongs of the Strickland test in whatever order makes sense, given the facts and circumstances of the case. Id. at 697. "If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, . . . that course should be followed." Id. at 697.

When a defendant files a motion pursuant to D.C. Code § 23-110 asserting ineffective assistance of counsel, there is ordinarily a presumption in favor of holding a hearing on the motion. *Dorsey v. United States*, 225 A.3d 724, 728 (D.C. 2020). However, "a hearing on a § 23-110 motion is not necessary when the motion consists of (1) vague and conclusory allegations, (2) palpably incredible claims, or (3) allegations that would merit no relief even if true." *Little v. United States*, 748 A.2d 920, 922 (D.C. 2000) (quoting *Ready v. United States*, 620 A.2d 233, 234 (D.C. 1993) (internal quotation marks omitted)).

B. Sentencing Counsel Was Not Deficient in Failing to Challenge the Applicability of the Enhancement Provision to Wilson.

The sentencing-enhancement provision in D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(2) was properly applied to Wilson in the instant case. The government filed timely notice of the enhancement prior to trial (2016 R. 21). A plain reading of the statutory language establishes D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(2)'s appropriateness in this case; any challenge to its applicability would have been doomed to fail. Thus, failure to file a meritless motion was not deficient performance.

1. The Enhancement Provision Applied to Wilson.

Wilson argues that the language of D.C. Code § 22-1804a is "not clear about whether two charges that derived from separate acts but were sentenced on the same day count as two convictions," for purposes of the enhancement statute (Brief at 4-5). He asserts that the Notice of Enhancement "failed to expose him to enhanced penalties," and that the trial court's interpretation and application of the enhancement to his sentence was both "absurd" and "false" (Brief at 4, 7-8). Wilson further

argues that the supposed ambiguity in the statute triggers application of the rule of lenity (Brief at 8). Each of these claims is meritless.

D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(2) allows for an enhanced sentencing penalty for a defendant convicted of a crime of violence who has two prior convictions for crimes of violence. D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(2) states:

If a person is convicted in the District of Columbia of a crime of violence as defined by § 22-4501, having previously been convicted of 2 prior crimes of violence **not committed on the same occasion**, the court, in lieu of the term of imprisonment authorized, shall impose a term of imprisonment of not less than 15 years and may impose such greater term of imprisonment as it deems necessary up to, and including, life without possibility of release.

Id. (emphasis added). The statute goes on to state that a person shall be considered to have been convicted of two crimes of violence if "the person has twice before on separate occasions been convicted of a crime of violence as defined by § 22-4501." D.C. Code § 22-1804a(c)(2).

Wilson points to the difference in the language of the two sections and asserts that his prior convictions fail to meet the strictures of D.C. Code § 22-1804a(c)(2) because he was sentenced for both convictions on the same date. This reading of the statute is not supported by case law, legislative history, or common sense.

Wilson cites no precedent equating "separate occasions" with "separate dates." For this reason, this Court already determined in Wilson's direct appeal that it was not plain error for the trial court to find the enhancement statute applicable to Wilson's circumstances (R1. 25, Ex. 6 at 14-15). This Court has interpreted the phrase "on more than one occasion" to require that the acts occurred "at two or more distinct times" and that there be "some time separation between the acts." *United States* v. Smith, 685 A.2d 380, 385 (D.C. 1996). "Two or more distinct times" does not equate to two or more distinct dates.

⁵ Other state supreme courts have held that "occasion" explicitly does not mean "date." The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that each conviction constitutes a "separate occasion," as the term was used in a repeatoffender statute, and further held that the statute "did not require that the . . . convictions occur in . . . separate court appearances." State v. Hopkins, 484 N.W.2d 549, 550 & 552 (Wis. 1992)). In State v. Kintz, the Washington Supreme Court declined to rule that the term "separate occasions" excludes events occurring on the same date. 238 P.3d 470, 476 (Wash. 2010). The court held that "the term 'separate occasions' . . . is unambiguous," and "the only reasonable interpretation of the term is a distinct, individual, noncontinuous occurrence or incident." Id. at 476 (quotation marks omitted). In its opinion, the Washington Supreme Court noted the lower court's observation that "[t]he legislature could have defined 'separate occasions" as separate days or dates or as separated by a minimum time period, but it did not do so." Id. at 476 (internal quotation marks omitted).

The statute here does not suffer from a fatal ambiguity. Rather, the two subparagraphs of D.C. Code § 22-1804a can be read in concert with one another. Specifically, D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(2) specifies the timing of when offenses have been "committed," while D.C. Code § 22-1804a(c)(2) focuses on separate occasions of "conviction." Under this reading, D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(2)'s use of the phrase "not committed on the same occasion" precludes the enhancement from applying to multiple convictions arising out of contemporaneous criminal acts. However, the statutory language permits a court to enhance the defendant's sentence based upon convictions arising from acts committed at different times on the same date. See, e.g., United States v. Hudspeth, 42 F.3d 1015, 1023 (7th Cir. 1994) (noting that Congress amended the Armed Career Criminal Act to apply to crimes "committed on occasions different from one another" to "preclude the classification of simultaneous offenses as separate offenses") (emphasis in original), abrogated on other grounds, Kirkland v. United States, 687 F.3d 878 (7th Cir. 2012). Similarly, the D.C. Code § 22-1804a(c)(2)'s requirement that someone has been "twice before on separate occasions . . . convicted of a crime of violence" precludes application of the enhancement based on simultaneous convictions -i.e.,

convictions in the same case – rather than judgments or sentences entered on the same court date.

Wilson's suggested interpretation of the term "separate occasions" would also conflict with D.C. Code § 22-1804a's apparent purpose. See generally Washington v. District of Columbia, 137 A.3d 170, 174 (D.C. 2016) ("[I]n expounding a statute, we must not be guided by a single sentence or member of a sentence, but look to the provisions of the whole law, and to its object and policy.") (quotation marks omitted). When the D.C. Council adopted the current language in D.C. Code § 22-1804a, it eliminated the prior statutory requirement that the commission of the second violent felony occur after sentencing for the first violent felony. See D.C. Law 10-194 (Oct. 7, 1994); see also Boswell v. United States, 511 A.2d 29, 30 n.1 (D.C. 1986) (describing statutory requirements of prior provision, D.C. Code § 22-104a (1973)). In doing so, the D.C. Council made clear its intention to apply the sentencing-enhancement provision to a broader range of offenders. See generally Johnson v. United States, 225 U.S. 405, 415 (1912) ("A change of language is some evidence of a change of purpose[.]"). This substantive change in the law expanded the applicability of the sentencing enhancement, allowing it to be employed without regard to the timing of offenders' prior sentencing hearings. Wilson's interpretation of the statute therefore directly conflicts with the legislative purpose of the statute as it exists today.

Wilson's reading of the statute would also produce arbitrary and absurd results. Applying Wilson's reading, he would have been eligible for the enhancement if he had been sentenced in his two prior cases on two successive dates, rather than on the same date. In other words, the sentencing enhancement would have been properly applied if he had been sentenced in Case 2005-FEL-5239 on September 21, 2007, and sentenced in Case 2006-CF22806 on the following day. Such a reading of the statute would make a defendant's sentence turn upon a calendar clerk's scheduling decision rather than on the nature of the defendant's previous criminal conduct. The Council could not have intended this outcome.

Reading D.C. Code §§ 22-1804a(a)(2) & 1804a(c)(2) together, a defendant's two prior convictions for crimes of violence must arise from two distinct acts to properly form the basis for application of the sentencing enhancement. Although Wilson was sentenced for his two prior convictions on the same date, these convictions involve separate

incidents against separate victims, occurring at separate times. The repeat-offender enhancement properly applied in these circumstances.

Finally, Wilson asserts that the rule of lenity should be applied in this case due to the alleged ambiguity in the enhancement statute. The rule is "to be invoked only where the statutory language, structure, purpose, and history leave the intent of the legislature in genuine doubt." Holloway v. United States, 951 A.2d 59, 65 (D.C. 2008). Only if, after application of traditional tools of statutory interpretation, a statute remains "grievously ambiguous [such] that the court can make no more than a guess as to what the statute means," will the rule of lenity apply. Lee v. United States, 276 A.3d 12, 18–19 (D.C. 2022) (internal citations omitted). "The rule of lenity does not . . . require courts to give criminal statutes their narrowest possible interpretation, and cannot substitute for common sense or the policy underlying a statute." Alvarez v. United States, 576 A.2d 713, 715 (D.C. 1990) (citing Lemon v. United States, 564 A.2d 1368, 1381 (D.C. 1989)). "Lenity thus serves only as an aid for resolving an ambiguity; it is not to be used to beget one. The rule comes into operation 'at the end of the process of construing what Congress has expressed, not at the beginning as an overriding consideration of being lenient to wrongdoers." Albernaz v. United States, 450 U.S. 333, 342 (1981) (quoting Callanan v. United States, 364 U.S. 587, 596 (1961)).

The rule of lenity is inapplicable here. Even if the slight difference in wording between D.C. Code §§ 22-1804a(a)(2) and 22-1804a(c)(2) creates some tension between the two provisions, that does not amount to a grievous ambiguity sufficient to trigger application of the rule of lenity. "The simple existence of some statutory ambiguity . . . is not sufficient to warrant application of [the] rule, for most statutes are ambiguous to some degree." *Muscarello v. United States*, 524 U.S. 125, 138 (1998). The wording of the enhancement provision, the legislative history of the statute, and the analysis provided by the Court in the direct appeal in this case support the trial court's decision to impose the enhanced sentence upon Wilson in this case.

2. Sentencing Counsel's Performance Was Not Deficient, as She Advocated for the Proper Application of the Sentencing-Enhancement Provision.

The sentencing-enhancement provision in D.C. Code § 22-1804a was properly applied to Wilson at his sentencing hearing. Thus, an objection to its application would have been destined to fail. Wilson's

sentencing counsel was not obligated to pursue a fruitless argument on Wilson's behalf. See Washington v. United States, 689 A.2d at 571-2; Zanders v. United States, 678 A.2d at 569.

Furthermore, counsel urged the court to read D.C. Code § 22-1804a as imposing a statutory or "soft" minimum sentence, as opposed to a mandatory or "hard" minimum sentence, as delineated in the *Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines Manual* (07/15/16 Tr. 13-14). She advocated for a sentence at the lowest end of the applicable guideline range for each felony offense based primarily on Wilson's traumatic childhood and mental-health history (R1. 25, Ex. 2). While she did not oppose the imposition of the enhancement provision, counsel zealously advocated for Wilson's interests within the framework of D.C. Code § 22-1804a. The fact that Wilson received a harsher sentence than he wanted does not transform counsel's otherwise satisfactory performance into a deficient one.

C. Wilson Was Not Prejudiced by Counsel's Failure to Challenge a Clearly Applicable Sentencing-Enhancement Provision.

Wilson has not demonstrated that his sentencing counsel's failure to challenge the sentencing-enhancement provision resulted in prejudice to him. There is nothing in the record to suggest any likelihood of a different outcome had Wilson's counsel challenged the enhancement. See Gardner v. United States, 140 A.3d at 1196. Thus, there is no reasonable probability that, but for his counsel's failure to make such a meritless challenge, the result of the proceeding would have been different. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694.

II. The Trial Court Properly Understood and Applied the Sentencing-Enhancement Provision by Adjudicating a Lawful and Appropriate Sentence for Wilson.

Wilson argues that the trial court's comments at the sentencing hearing on July 15, 2016, show that the judge understood the enhancement provision in D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(2) to impose a mandatory minimum sentence, as opposed to a statutory minimum sentence (Brief at 8-9). He also claims that the trial court's order denying the ineffective-assistance claim "makes it very clear" that the court construed the enhancement statute to require the 15-year term as a mandatory minimum (Brief at 8-9). Wilson asserts that, had the judge properly understood the statute, it is "entirely possible that he would not have imposed the fifteen-year sentence" (Brief at 9). However, Wilson

failed to object to his sentence on this ground either at the sentencing hearing or on direct appeal. He has therefore forfeited appellate consideration of this issue. Even if this Court were to consider Wilson's defaulted claim, Wilson cannot show plain error. The record establishes that the trial court properly understood the sentencing enhancement to impose a statutory minimum, and appropriately applied the enhancement provision when sentencing Wilson to 180 months' incarceration for robbery.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles.

An appellant's failure to raise an argument in his initial appeal amounts to a waiver of that argument in a subsequent appeal. See Parker v. United States, 254 A.3d 1138, 1142 (D.C. 2021). "Where a defendant has failed to raise an available challenge to his conviction on direct appeal, he may not raise that issue on collateral attack unless he shows both cause for his failure to do so and prejudice as a result of his failure." Head v. United States, 489 A.2d 450, 451 (D.C. 1985).

The Court reviews the denial of a motion for a reduction in sentence for an abuse of discretion. *Cook v. United States*, 932 A.2d 506, 507 (D.C.

2007). Sentences within statutory limits are generally unreviewable aside from constitutional considerations. *Id.* (quoting *Crawford v. United States*, 628 A.2d 1002, 1003-4 (D.C. 1993)). "Due process may be implicated if the sentencing judge relies on mistaken information or baseless assumptions, but a judge has wide latitude in sentencing matters and may consider any reliable information, from virtually any source, in deciding what sentence to impose." *Brocksmith v. United States*, 99 A.3d 690, 701 (D.C. 2014) (quoting *Saunders v. United States*, 975 A.2d 165, 167 (D.C. 2009) (internal citations omitted)).

"Where no objection was made during the sentencing proceeding, this [C]ourt applies plain-error review to a claim that the trial court erroneously believed that the sentence it imposed was mandatory." Briscoe v. United States, 181 A.3d 651, 655 (D.C. 2018); see, e.g., Veney v. United States, 738 A.2d 1185, 1198-99 (D.C. 1999) (plain error for trial judge to mistakenly believe imposition of a consecutive sentence was mandatory). Before an appellate court can correct an error under these circumstances, the defendant must establish: (1) error; (2) that is plain; and (3) that affects substantial rights. Johnson v. United States, 520 U.S. 461, 466-67 (1997) (citing United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 732

(1993)). If all three of the above conditions are met, an appellate court may exercise its discretion to notice a forfeited error, but only if the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings. *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

B. Because Wilson Failed to Raise this Argument at the Sentencing Hearing or on Direct Appeal, the Court May Review His Claim Now Only for Plain Error.

At sentencing, defense counsel noted that D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(2) imposed a statutory minimum and not a mandatory minimum sentence (07/15/16 Tr. 13-14). Counsel did not subsequently object to the trial court's imposition of a 180-month sentence for robbery on the grounds that the court had misunderstood the sentencing-enhancement provision as a mandatory minimum. Counsel also did not object when the judge stated "[i]t pains me that I've got to give you the amount of time that I have to give you," or when he stated "[t]he statute does not give me wiggle room, and that's just what the legislature said, and my obligation is to do what the law says and I've got to do it, but it is an unpleasant thought," or when he said "it disturbs me, makes me uncomfortable to have to do this" (07/15/16 Tr. 25). Counsel also did not

raise an objection or indicate that she perceived that the court had misapplied the sentencing-enhancement provision when, after announcing sentence, the trial court asked if either party needed to raise any additional issues (*id.* at 28).

Nor did Wilson raise this issue in his direct appeal or in any of his post-conviction motions. Wilson asserted several bases for ineffective assistance of counsel in various filings, but never this one. He has also argued several times that the enhancement statute is ambiguous or was misapplied to his case. Only in his latest filing has he asserted, for the first time, that the trial court misinterpreted the enhancement as a mandatory minimum. He may not now raise that issue on collateral attack unless he can show both cause for his failure to do so in his direct appeal and prejudice. *See Head*, 489 A.2d at 451. Wilson has not, and cannot, establish good cause for failing to raise this issue in his direct appeal.

Because Wilson failed to preserve any challenge to his sentence on the grounds now asserted in this collateral appeal, this Court may consider his claim only if necessary to correct plain error. *See Briscoe*, 181 A.3d at 655; *Veney*, 738 A.2d at 1199.

C. The Trial Court Properly Understood and Applied D.C. Code § 22-1804a to Wilson.

Even if the Court of Appeals were to consider Wilson's claim on the merits, he would not prevail. While there have been occasions where both the trial court and counsel were somewhat imprecise in their descriptions of the enhancement provision's requirements, the record establishes that the trial court properly understood the sentencing enhancement to impose a statutory minimum and not a mandatory minimum.

The Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines Manual defines a mandatory minimum term as "a term that must be imposed and cannot be suspended," while a statutory minimum term is defined as one that "must be imposed but can be suspended." District of Columbia Sentencing and Criminal Code Revision Commission, Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines Manual, § 3.6, p. 23 (June 30, 2014). A statutory minimum is "mandatory" in that it must be imposed, although it may be suspended; accordingly, statutory minimums may sometimes be imprecisely referred to as a "mandatory" sentence, thereby causing confusion as to whether a true mandatory minimum sentence is being considered.

At the sentencing hearing in this case, Wilson's counsel noted that D.C. Code § 22-1804a(a)(2) imposed a statutory and not a mandatory

minimum sentence (07/15/16 Tr. 13-14). The trial court did not indicate that the court interpreted the statute differently. Moreover, Wilson's counsel advocated for a sentence at the lowest end of the applicable guideline range for each felony offense, a request that would have been improper if the sentencing enhancement required the court to impose a mandatory minimum (R1. 25, Ex. 2 at 8).

Government counsel erroneously referred to the sentencing enhancement's "mandatory minimum" 15-year sentence in his Memorandum in Aid of Sentencing (R1. 25, Ex. 3). However, he also acknowledged at the sentencing hearing that the government could have requested that the court impose a period of incarceration of less than 15 years for the robbery charge, thereby treating the enhancement provision as a statutory minimum (07/15/16 Tr. 16-17). Further, while government counsel did not take a position as to whether the enhancement created a "hard or soft minimum," he did not argue that the defense's requested sentence violated the enhancement provision's requirements (*id.* at 15-17).

Perhaps most importantly, at no point during the sentencing hearing did the trial court itself refer to the sentencing enhancement as a "mandatory minimum." While the court expressed some discomfort with the severity of the sentence and noted its obligation to follow the law, the court never indicated that it was not exercising its own discretion in sentencing Wilson. Indeed, after expressing some unease with the harsh statutory minimum, the trial court explained the 15-year sentence for robbery as follows:

[A]nd let me just say, **separate from the statute**, the prior record dictates it, it does, even if it wasn't the statute, if somebody came in and said they wanted to do it, they might say it's on the heavy side, but you can't say that it's unreasonable, because it's the same thing over and over and over again (07/15/16 Tr. 25) (emphasis added).

In its order denying Wilson's motions seeking relief under Super. Ct. Crim. R. 35(a) and 35(b), the trial court affirmed its understanding of the "mandatory" nature of the enhancement provision – that is to say, the obligatory nature of the 15-year statutory minimum – but never described it as a "mandatory minimum" (R1. 31 at 1, 4, 6, 7 & 10). The trial court reiterated that the imposed sentence reflected not just the application of the enhancement provision, but the fact that Wilson "had 21 prior convictions that included instances of conduct very similar to the facts established at trial" (R1. 31 at 10). The trial court also clarified that "[t]he displeasure expressed by the court of imposing an enhanced

penalty should not be taken as an indication that the sentence was not fully supported by consideration of the facts adduced at trial and in consideration of defendant's very substantial prior record" (R1. 31 at 10).

Simply put, the record does not support Wilson's claim that the trial court erroneously misinterpreted the sentencing enhancement statute as a mandatory minimum. See Briscoe, 181 A.3d at 655. The sporadically imprecise description of the sentencing enhancement as "mandatory" by the court and counsel does not constitute "clear or obvious" error. Id. at 661. This is particularly true in light of the remainder of the record, which establishes that the trial court and counsel understood the enhancement provision as a statutory minimum.

Wilson nonetheless asserts that "it is entirely possible that [the court] would not have imposed the fifteen-year sentence had he realized" that the statute established only a statutory minimum (Brief at 9). The judge's comments at sentencing about the appropriateness of the 15-year term for the robbery conviction utterly belie this contention. Given that the record shows that the judge would have imposed the same sentence – "separate from the statute" (07/15/16 Tr. 25) – Wilson cannot show any

prejudice arising from the trial court's alleged misunderstanding about the mandatory aspect of the enhancement provision.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the government respectfully submits that the judgment of the Superior Court should be affirmed.